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Abstract

Chapter 11: Set against the backdrop of  growing political unrest in the end of  
1960s Bangladesh (the then East Pakistan), the chapter 11 of  the Rooftop Soldier 
unfolds in a vibrant student-led protest at Victoria Park, Dhaka. Amid chants 
and speeches calling for justice and autonomy, a range of  characters, including 
student leaders, intellectuals, and ordinary citizens, grapple with the complex 
socio-political situation. The narrator of  the story emphasizes the exploitation 
of  Bengal by West Pakistan, highlighting issues like economic inequality, political 
oppression, and the denial of  rights to the Bengali people. The course of  story 
reflects the protagonist’s, Anwar’s, internal conflict deepens. His struggle to 
balance personal safety with a desire for meaningful change mirrors the broader 
societal crisis. The description of  the meeting intensifies as slogans echo, and 
tensions rise between different groups, who are opposing for leadership in the 
movement. At the heart of  the protest is Mokbul Hossein, a grieving father 
whose son was killed by police gunfire during a recent demonstration. His raw, 
emotional address becomes a pivotal moment, stirring empathy from the crowd 
but also causing a brief  disruption led by the unconventional person Khijir, who 
attempts to restore order with humor. The story interweaves personal struggles, 
political tension, and collective anger, encapsulating the broader struggle for 
freedom and identity in a unrestrained time.

Chapter 12: The narrative delves into the complex psychological landscape of  
Osman, a character who is deeply enmeshed in both his memories and current 
relationships. Through the lens of  Osman’s tutoring of  Ranu, a young girl 
struggling with mathematics, we witness a dynamic tension between personal 
desires, societal expectations, and past traumas. Osman oscillates between flashes 
of  attraction toward Ranu, fatigue, and moments of  introspection about his own 
health issues, notably a recurring stomach pain that serves as a metaphor for his 
internal conflicts. The narrative seamlessly weaves in Osman’s memories of  his 
father, Ibrahim Sheikh, whose rigid and authoritarian nature shaped Osman’s 
formative experiences, and his interactions with individuals like Deepchand, 
a tragic figure whose death left a lasting impact on Osman. This multilayered 
portrayal underscores the protagonist’s struggles in reconciling his inner 
emotions with the external pressures around him, creating a tapestry of  human 
complexity that reflects broader themes of  societal power dynamics, personal 
integrity, and the long shadows cast by memory and past relationships.



As they talk and as they shout slogans they are moving forward; from 
inside the park comes the sound of  a speech. As they move further 

along the words become clear, “Brothers of  mine, for twenty-three years 
West Pakistan has gorged itself, become fat on the riches of  golden 
Bengal. Karachi, Lahore, Islamabad have been built on the oppression 
of  Bengal. They are digging ditches in the deserts of  West Pakistan 
now, planting crops, Whose money is it that pays for all that? They do 
not solve our flooding problems. Our farmers do not get a fair price 
for their jute; our student community in Bengal is forced to purchase 
readymade paper at a higher price, by being Bengali we are deprived of  
good government jobs. Our leader has to go to prison just for talking 
about obtaining our rights, by slapping a fake conspiracy case on him 
Ayub Khan tries to stick him in a trap to finish him for good. Brothers 
of  mine, we bled in fifty-two, bled in sixty-two, sixty-nine commences 
in bloodshed. Brothers of  mine...”

Victoria Park is full of  people. There are so many people on the 
massive dais of  the Shaheed Minar, and most of  them are leaders or 
members of  different student organizations. All around the dais, on the 
stairs too, the boys are seated, in some of  their hands are bamboo mats 
with posters plastered on them. The people are overflowing the railing 
on the side, standing on the footpath next to the wall or as they walk they 
are listening to the speech. From the eastern gate the fushka and ghughni 
sellers had to move down to the other end to the Islamiya College gate. 
From here to the taxi stand in the opposite direction there are 3 trucks, 
in the trucks are police forces with their rifles at the ready. The winter 
afternoon has swept across the park, the dome of  the Shaheed Minar 
flashes a rose-tinted smile in the late-afternoon light. On the mike now 
there’s a different voice, “The imperialist powers in Pakistan, through 
their boot-licking agent Ayub Khan and his disciples, continue to oppress 
the people of  this land. The common people of  this land have no rice 
in their bellies, no clothes on their backs. Yet, with the money earned 
by the labor of  the proletariat, some people, each day, build mountains 
of  wealth. Calling it a loan or aid the imperialist lapdog Ayub Khan 
has mortgaged this country and the people of  this country to a foreign 
ruler. Today, everywhere in the world, in Asia, Africa, Latin America 
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the proletariat have awakened; the imperialist agents and brokers’ day is 
coming to an end; farmers, workers, laboring folks today...” 

Putting on a grave look tempered by a light smile Alauddin climbs the 
stairs. A young guy comes over and says respectfully, “Altaf-brother, come 
on up.” Altaf  shakes his head, “This is the students’ meeting, we have come to 
listen.”

Behind Alauddin Miah, Khijir also climbs the stairs. But before reaching 
the dais he sits down on the stairs on one of  the upper steps. Behind Khijir 
Ali was Mokbul Hossein. As Khijir sat down the man stood next to him. 
Alauddin calls over one of  the organizers and moving his mouth close to 
his ear says something to him, and then that organizer stands up next to 
the young guy giving the speech. The guy says, “Brothers of  mine, I will 
say only one more thing before I take my leave from you. I want to say 
only this, that merely by changing the government our pain and suffering 
will not end. The imperialists do not want us to be free from the moth-
eaten feudalist and capitalist system in our society. That is why they use their 
various agents of  different stripes...” his speech can no longer be heard, a 
throng below the dais begins to shout slogans, “rise, rise”--”Bengali rise.” 
“Pindi1, or Dhaka?”--”Dhaka, Dhaka.” “Agartala Conspiracy”--”No to 
that, no to that.”

In the meantime another young guy came up and stood next to 
the mike. Beside him was Alauddin Miah standing with his hand on 
Ronju’s father’s back. On the mike could be heard, “Brothers of  mine, 
please take your seats, take your seats! Today present in our midst is the 
distinguished brother shaheed’s distinguished father. You all know...”, here 
the speaker gets very agitated and begins speaking far too rapidly; at the 
same time the mike starts making a wailing sound such that none of  
what he says can be understood. One time this can be heard, “We know, 
we know, we know...”, he doesn’t get a chance to say what is the thing 
that he knows, another person comes over, occupies the mike and says, 
“Now the father of  shaheed Abu Taleb, a young employee at WAPDA2 
killed by police gunfire last December 8th, would like to say something 
to you all.” Before he even finishes speaking a slogan rises from a throng 
under the palm tree at the southern gate, “Imperial agents”--”Beware, 
beware!” “Workers of  the world”--”Be as one!”, “Some will eat, some 
will not”--”No to that, no to that!”, “The landlord’s seat”--”Light it up, 
all together.” “The mill owner’s seat”--”Light it up, all together.”

All these slogans carry on, then again from that same throng a few 
people with their faces turned southward shout the slogan, “Bengali 
workers”--”Be as one,” “Six Points, Six Points”--”Must accept, must 
accept,” “Agartala conspiracy”--”No to that, no to that,” “Sheikh Mujib, 
Sheikh Mujib”--”Must be freed, must be freed.”

The manner in which the two throngs were screaming was such that it 
seemed like they were hurling slogans back and forth at one another. Most of  

1	  Short for Rawalpindi, an important city with large military bases in Punjab, 
West Pakistan.

2	  Water and Power Development Authority



the listeners were answering the slogans coming from both directions. But seeing 
that the slogans weren’t going to stop, the people began to look back and forth. 
Some people attempted to go over the railing. Khijir stood up, mounted the 
stage and from there tried to take a good look over the entire park. On stage 
all the people were educated. Most of them were university or college students; 
from good families at least, that’s for certain. But even when he stood up among 
them nobody noticed him, with the slogans and counter-slogans flying back and 
forth, everyone was worried about what the meeting might turn into. Alauddin 
was dumbfounded too! His experience goes way back, he knows how all these 
things do not stay limited only to the trading of barbs. Who knows what kind of  
unity has been established among the students? Can’t these perpetual law student 
leaders studying at university year after year figure out anything? What bastard 
knows when an activist’s weapon stops being his mouth and starts being his 
hand? That’s why Alauddin gave a little wink at Khijir so that he would stand 
crossways a little in front of him. But just look at how brilliant this hick is! What 
did this guy understand from his signal? He goes ahead and grabs the mike stand 
with his hand. In his raspy voice Khijir starts squawking, “Brothers of mine, 
brothers of mine, why ya’all just fittin’ t’ make a racket? Can’t ya shut the hell up 
and listen’ t’ the meetin’? Ya’ll came down t’gether five, ten at a time; if  ya’all just 
make a racket, all we’ll hear is ya’ll brayin’, the work’ll be yur own waggery is all!3 
Work together, don’ go on brayin’ now. Ya’ll caus’d enough damn trouble idn’t 
it? Now, for Allah’s sake, it’s time t’ give ya’ll mouths a rest!” Because of Khijir 
Ali’s gaunt, tall body, his sunken cheeks, pocked face, dark full lips, or because 
of his thick, local accent bursts of laughter broke out among the listeners. Even 
Alauddin laughed as he put his hand on his back and said, “Enough, ‘at’s it!” The 
people are laughing like crazy. Those who knew him were of course laughing; 
they know that if  Skin ‘n Bones Khijir gets whiff  of a disturbance or a throng, 
he’ll show up to instigate. Most of the listeners however didn’t know him; they’re 
laughing even harder. Mokbul Hossein is now in front of the mike. But the 
people were sniping and making faces amongst themselves about Khijir’s style 
of pronunciation, Where were they going to have the time to pay attention to 
Mokbul Hussein? Anwar and Altaf  were stiffly set in their slogans and counter-
slogans trying not to look at one another. When they saw Khijir’s antics they 
loosened up, began laughing hard amongst themselves. Ceasing their shouting of  
slogans, without even knowing it the boys yielded to Khijir’s invitation. Because 
the joking, jesting and mockery directed at Khijir was an undifferentiated reaction, 
the bitterness of the boys from different throngs towards one another ceased. 
With a big smile spread across his face Alauddin Miah announced, “The martyr 
Abu Taleb’s father, Mr. Mokbul Hosen shaheb will now say a few words to you 
all.” The listeners more or less fell silent and stared up at the stage.

But Mokbul Hossein runs his tongue along his lips, again and 
again he does this. After saying “I” he swallows and again he begins the 
important work of  running his tongue back and forth along his lips. 
From behind him a young student leader says, “Go on, say it, say it!” 
This voice is very clear on the mike, “Say, Ayub-Monem’s unrestrained 
police force mercilessly killed my son.” Even though these words were 

3	  I’m not sure of the translation on this last clause, not sure of the sense of kelāṭā



said quietly they could be heard on the mike. This time there is a terrific 
silence among the listeners. Mokbul Hossein’s lips are shaking. The boy 
from behind says again, “Say it, say it.” Mokbul Hossein quietly says, 
“My son, Abu Taleb, my elder son Mohammad Abu Taleb on the 8th 
of  last month at the Neelkhet intersection in front of  New Market, in 
police gunfire...”

The young student leader prompts him, “Say, from the procession...”
Mokbul Hossein mumbles, “...died from the procession.” 
The student leader again prompts him, “Say, my one son has died, 

but today, to countless other boys like my boy, the dictator Ayub, in order 
to displace them...”

But in Mokbul Hossein’s thick voice what comes out is, “My one 
son has died, but a have another son. What if  I am not able to save him? 
How can I save ‘em, how can I?” Because he started crying his words 
completely sank. He doesn’t put his hand to his eyes, or wipe his nose. A 
thin stream of  water drips from his nose and eyes. The gathered crowd 
listens in utter silence to the sound of  his crying. Khijir, standing next to 
Mokbul Hossein says, “Say it, the mohajon he done disrespect’d ya! Go 
on now, say it, go on ‘n say it! What’cha cryin’ fur, then?”

Alauddin lightly rests his hand on Mokbul Hossein’s shoulder. The 
guy leans over a little. Then he buries his face in Alauddin’s shoulder and 
loudly starts weeping.

Khijir is quite upset. His lips start shaking so uncontrollably that one 
might fear that they would fall right off  his face. From those unsteady 
lips this comes out,” What’cha cryin’ fur? Ya couldn’t say dem words, is 
it? Go on ‘n say it! What’cha f ’raid of? Look at how many o’ us there is. 
What’s all t’is cryin’ ‘bout? Go on now say it, how the mohajon he call’d 
ya over and disrspected ya. Go on ‘n say it!”

The people on stage and on the stairs along with the entire audience 
sat in stunned silence listening to Mokbul Hossein’s weeping heard 
through the mic with evident sympathy for his grief  at his son’s death. 
Because all of  Khijir’s animated entreaties were caught by the mic, 
Mokbul Hossein’s weeping kept getting interrupted. People’s tempers 
flaired, one guy says, “Oof!”, another one says, “Idiot!” In this second 
guy’s tone of  voice there is a little bit of  the annoyance of  an adult 
woken by the racket a child makes, “The kuṭṭis4 got no kommon sense!”

Alauddin is quite overcome when Mokbul Hossein rests his head 
on his chest. Now all the listeners’ eyes are on him. Embracing him, 
wrapping his arms nearly all the way around his body, and in a voice 
laden with gratitude Alauddin growls, “Brothers of  mine, try to harden 
yurselves a bit.” Pausing slightly, he says, “Harden up, don’t fear none, 
I can handle Rohmotulla sordar meself !”

Once the meeting is over there are no rickshaws to be found. 
Osman and Anwar had to walk all the way to the turn at Roththola. 
What good was it getting into a rickshaw? Between the people, cars, 

4	  A term used for inhabitants of the old part of Dhaka city.



scooters, rickshaws, and bicycles Nobabpur was absolutely jam-packed. 
Their rickshaw would proceed for a little bit, then stop. Ahead the flow 
of  vehicles would stop, their rickshaw would also stop, then when the 
road opened up again their rickshaw would also proceed.

Right from the time they left the meeting Anwar was in a temper, 
“These guys are only interested in themselves. They have nothing else to 
talk about except their own leaders, their own party.” Osman says, “Why 
shouldn’t they talk about their own issues? The parties after all haven’t 
merged or anything.”

“Come on man, a public meeting is not a seminar. At a seminar it’s okay 
for each to present their own argument.” Saying this much Anwar stops 
to curse out a truck stopped in front of  a shop unloading cement, then 
starts again, “If  they are just going to talk about their own issues then 
what’s the need for unity?”

“Let me talk, will ya?” Osman says it as though Anwar were in charge 
of  deciding who gets to announce the party’s program at the meeting, 
“Let me talk. Look, Whose program do the people accept?”

“Come on, no! Along the way, if  they see that people are responding 
to the program of  another party, well, then these guys go ahead and 
present that issue as their own.”

“Then that’s good.” Osman laughs, “You’re thinking that they have 
accepted your guys’ program, Well, then isn’t that a victory for you?”

“No. They will take our program as a slogan. They’ll assess a program’s 
popularity and then based on that toss out a slogan. There was a time 
when people stood weapon-in-hand ready to fight for autonomy, it’s said 
that 99% autonomy is provided for in the constitution of  Pakistan. Now 
look, it’s they who are autonomy’s champion. Next you’ll see them take 
Socialism as a slogan. But they have yet to take any issue to the people. 
Whenever any program from any party has become popular, then they 
have picked up its slogan.”

“But if  everybody is speaking from the same platform people are able 
to make out whose words are genuine, and whose are just grist for the mill! 
Besides that, the workers might even get used to putting up with each 
others’ different opinions.”

“Is this really the place for a test of  patience or a trial of  tolerance? 
Anyway, they let that one guy speak, Didn’t they?”

“Which guy?”
“Tsk, ya know, that rickshaw or scooter driver--ya know, your Alauddin 

Miah’s employee--they let him speak, Didn’t they? You think it’s enough to 
have the exchange of  opinions and ideas just among the educated classes?”

This time Osman is frustrated, “You don’t understand! If  Khijir was 
allowed to speak the landlord would’ve gotten angry and gone ahead and 
martyred Abu Taleb’s father too, or at least wouldn’t have allowed him 
to stay in the building.”

“Why? Does the landlord allow them to stay there for free?”
“They’re going to stay there for free?” A wan smile plays across 

Osman’s face, “If  they don’t pay rent by the third of  the month he’s over 
there twice a day pressuring them, after a week, it’s four times a day.”



“Alright, well, what are they so scared of  about that? If  they leave 
that building, what, they’re not going to find another building?”

“Why wouldn’t they find one? But they’ll have to pay a higher rent. 
Changing buildings guarantees you’ll pay a higher rent. Then again, 
whoever comes to that building is going to have to pay a higher rent 
than the current one. You wouldn’t be able to understand what the real 
problem is...” Anwar doesn’t let Osman finish what he was saying, “I get 
it. The bloody landlords of  Dhaka, each one of  them is a thoroughbred 
bastard! They’re raising the rents step by step. Right now they go up each 
year, on top of  that they’ll raise them for Eid, raise them for Muharram. 
They’ll raise them in the winter, raise them in the summer.”

Osman bursts out laughing, “They’ll raise them in the sunshine, 
they’ll raise them in the shade.”

“And look, with this torrent of  Bengali nationalism coming as it is, 
probably they’ll raise them in honor of  Shohid Dibos5 too, they’ll raise 
them on Poyla Boishakh6.” Osman is pleased that Anwar laughs while he 
says it. Anwar is a landlord too. It’s good, he isn’t angry at what Osman 
said. Anwar stops laughing and says, “I see it at our house too. Ma and 
bhaya7 are always in agreement when it comes to raising the rent!”

Osman’s a little embarrassed, “No, everyone is not the same. But, 
look, renting out one’s house is a kind of  business now.”

“You’re saying a business? Zomidari, zomidari8!” Anwar looks overly agitated, 
“This is another goddamned Permanent Settlement! Lord Mountbatten’s Permanent 
Settlement, nineteen forty seven9. Build a house over here, build a house over there, 
with the rent from one house build another house. Second time in a posh area, third 
time Gulshan10. That’s it, bourgeois in a single generation!”

Whenever talk of  landlords arises Anwar gets a little overly heated. 
But then again he doesn’t really take any special advantage of  the fact that 
they have a house! He puts the largest portion of  his salary from working 
at the college into his mother’s hand. As much as possible he doesn’t set 
foot in the portion of  the house where the tenants live. So why is it that 
he gets so loud when the matter of  rising rents comes up? Osman never 
thought about that, he still doesn’t think about it. But still, even if  you just 

5	  Martyr’s Day in remembrance of the Language Movement demonstrators killed by 
Pakistani police on February 21, 1952.

6	  The New Year according to the Bengali calendar, associated with the cultural un-
derpinning of Bengali nationalism.

7	  An affectionate way to refer to a brother.
8	  This refers to the system founded in the late eighteenth century in Bengal whereby 

a landed class was created by giving certain families responsibility for collecting 
revenue from those living on and working large tracts of land leading to cross-gen-
erational tenancy and share-cropping agreements.

9	  Lord Mountbatten oversaw the partitioning of the Indian Subcontinent in 1947, 
and this reference would appear to be a jibe at him for helping to create a new kind 
of landholding class after independence based on rent and tenancy arrangements 
in urban areas.

10	Gulshan is an affluent neighborhood in the northern part of Dhaka city.



call it politeness there’s something to be said for this. When a weakness of  a 
person’s family comes up in conversation, isn’t it better to avoid that? That’s 
why Osman wants to return to the previous topic, “If  they had let Khijir 
speak, you know what would’ve happened? He probably would’ve said a 
whole lot of  things about Rohomtulla sordar, and there might have been 
chaos in the meeting!”

“Enough! No matter how powerful the landlord is, where people are rising 
up against total exploitation, is his position really going to be all that strong?”

The truck in front of  them unloaded the bags of  cement and started up 
again. But at the turn for the potato market again there is a jam. While he’s 
searching around for the cause of  the jam Osman says, “No, if  Abu Taleb’s 
father were evicted, then he would have to bear the suffering of  that entirely on 
his own. Those people from the groups opposite to the landlords, they would not 
rent him a place for less either. When it comes to money the guy’s in a bit of  
trouble, since Taleb was killed...” Midway through Anwar stops Osman, “What 
else does somebody who has lost their son to police gunfire have to fear? What 
else does he have to lose?”

“He does have. Another son. He’s got two daughters...”
“Ah, he’s a father burdened by the responsibility of  daughters, is that 

it?11 Osman is unable to respond to Anwar’s teasing comment. Anwar 
says, “What else does he have? You didn’t finish.”

“What else is going to have? Come on. He’s got a measly job, he 
works hard and pinches to get by, doesn’t have the stomach for much 
else.”

He wanted to say that Mokbul Hossein is a poor man, he can’t 
afford to suddenly join the revolution. Anwar says a bit gravely, “In 
Dhaka city apparently all of  these Rohomtullas of  yours still hold 
sway. In the villages the situation is different. I told you, let’s go and 
check it out. Let’s go next week.”

“What about your college?”
“Pfff, college you know is always closed. One time the boys will be 

on strike, then the government closes it down. Rest of  the time either it’s 
Sunday or vacation. Come on, you wanna check it out?”//

In one corner of  Amzadiya was Showkot standing in front of  their 
table. He rested his head against the wall behind him. A wispy layer of  
smoke spreads like a web from the thick chirut on the ashtray in front. 
Anwar comes in front and asks, “Alone? What’s up?”

“How am I going to answer that? Is it my responsibility to answer 
for those who haven’t come?” As he says it, a silent smile spreads across 
his wide face, his eyes twinkle. Osman asks, “What’s new with you?”

“Saathi hya khubsurot--mousom ka ye khabar hya!” 12 Showkot softly hums the 
tune. As he hums it he closes his eyes and splays himself  out over the chair. 

While drinking his tea Anwar asks, “Osman, what did you do about 
taking vacation leave?”

11	 This is irony:  in Bengali society the expense of finding suitable husbands for their 
daughters is a traditional obligation on fathers.

12	 Hindi language lyrics: “My companion is beautiful--that’s the news of the mon-
soon season.”



Osman stammers, “Oh, ya know buddy, there’s a bit of  a problem. 
There’s one guy in our section who’s taken leave, it doesn’t look like he’s coming 
back.”

“Come on, you’ve got so much leave coming to you! At least apply 
and see what happens!” Osman haltingly, “No, also I had to take a new 
tutoring gig, the exam is coming up.”

“Intermediate?”
“No. SSE, I mean it’s the metric exam.13”
“Now, what exams? Come on, let’s go. When we come back you can 

get them ready.”
Osman, as he lights his cigarette, says, “But they’re still rough in 

Math. I can’t manage that quickly.” Osman thinks, if  he doesn’t carefully 
show her that Ranu is going to fall again this time. Would it really be right 
for him to shirk his responsibilities like that?

“Why do you teach all of  these jackasses? Weren’t you the one who 
only teaches good students? Isn’t it annoying to teach a blunt student?”

This time Osman feels really badly for Ranu. It’s like some random 
person has come by and is dreadfully denigrating Ranu for the offense 
of  repeatedly missing the same Math problem. Ranu lifts her head up 
from her notebook and stares in Osman’s direction. Ranu’s face gradually 
begins to blur, then it is hard to discern if  it is Ranu’s or Ranju’s face.

Osman says solemnly, “I had to. If  I stick that much to my principles 
man, I can’t get by!”

Over there Showkot sits up straight, whether from a doze or a full 
sleep, lights up his smoldering cheroot and asks, “What gender is this blunt 
student?” Khaled rises and approaches from the table in the opposite 
direction. That table is always occupied by the poets, Khaled also writes 
poetry or stories or something. As soon as he comes over Khaled says to 
Showkot, “What’s up, boss, you already out or what?”

Showkot laughs, “So quick? I already took five pegs in advance 
from Gulistan.”

“You downed five pegs already?” He doesn’t believe the part about 
the five pegs. And there’s no reason why he should believe it. “What did 
you drink?” When Anwar asks Showkor laughs in return, “What’s a man 
to drink in this chill weather? This weather whispers, whiskey! Whiskey!”

Khaled says, “Come on. This time let’s go to the bridge14 and lend a 
little service to our Mother Bengal!” As he stands, Showkot says, “Come 
along! Anwar, let’s go get us a pint.”

Anwar immediately refuses, “No, there’s somewhere I have to be.”
Khaled teases him a little, “Work in advancement of  the revolution?”
Showkot then invites Osman, “Osman?”
Osman immediately agrees. Without even looking at Anwar he says, 

“I’ll see you tomorrow, buddy” and leaves with Showkot and Khaled.

13	 This is the exam taken at the end of the 10th grade.
14	 I’m not sure of the meaning of this word, I found “bridge” as one meaning of 

this in the dialect dictionary. I’m assuming the sentence means to go to the bridge 
where they buy locally made liquor in contrast to the imported whisky previously 
referred to.



Chapter 12
“Didn’t I say I have it! Do you know better than I do?”

“You know everything!”
Osman was a bit sleepy, seeing that Ranu and Ronju were at home 

he sat up in bed. The night had gone very badly, hoping that sleep might 
come he masturbated for a long time, but just as he was dozing off  he 
dreamt he was walking with someone and they passed a row of  bucket 
latrines in a narrow alleyway in Panitola and even though he smelled 
the shit in the dream he woke up, went to the roof  and threw up. After 
throwing up he didn’t sleep anymore. Since the morning he had 4 antacid 
tablets and on his way back from the office he ate rice with bata fish and a 
thin gravy from Anondomoi Hindu restaurant and he was finally feeling 
quite good. If  he could just sleep a couple of  hours the evening would 
have gone so well.

“When did you come?” Before he could answer this question from 
Ranu Ronju says, “Here, go through a couple ‘o translations with me. 
School and all that’s not happening, Abba’s beside himself. I told Apa, 
come on, let’s take our notebooks with us. If  he’s not there? Then back, 
again back home with the notebooks and all! Just up-down!”

Ranu asks, “You’re not going to eat?”
“I ate before I came.”
“Are you going to rest now?”
“Tsk, of  course not! I don’t ever take a nap at noon. Not ever. Never!” 

Osman says it with such haste that it seems like so much depends on this 
statement. Because he thought the speed and the erratic manner of  what 
he said sounded over-the-top even to his own ears had to add, “Last year 
I only slept at noon one single day. And that was a weekend, the rain was 
coming down nicely at midday, there was no way not to nap.”

Ronju, laughing, asks, “You remember the date too?”
“You bet!” Osman tries to act smart and say it with a shaheb-like 

pronunciation, “January the twenty second, nineteen hundred and sixty eight AD.”
“Does it rain in January?” This corrective statement by Ronju causes 

a stir of  laughter; in his mind Osman had been preparing to sleep, now 
not even a hint of  that remained. After he asks the brother and sister 
to sit he lights a cigarette. He says to Ronju, “Let’s see your translation.”

Before he says anything to Ranu he takes a long drag on his cigarette, 
coughs for a bit, then swallows a few times. He says, “Don’t you have the 
unitary method today?”

Standing at the doorway to the roof  Osman pulls on his cigarette, 
brother and sister are seated next to one another on the bed frame. The 
color of  both of  their skin is nearly the same dusky shade.

Their 2 pairs of  rippling bluish lips were like a second bracket. That 
faint crease above the two of  their lips and below their noses was the 
same too. It seemed like their noses were of  the same size also, he could 
see if  he measured them with a ruler. But on the tip of  Ranu’s nose and 



on the faint crease under her nose were a few beads of  sweat. But on 
Ronju’s face there was not even a smidgen of  sweat. Osman ran his finger 
along the tip of  his nose and beneath his nose--no! It’s dry as a bone. 
Ranu and Ronju both have smiles on their faces, but that unbroken wave 
of  temperate, salty dewdrops on Ranu’s nose and lips made her stand 
out! The gauzy curtain of  cigarette smoke, like a magnifying glass, made 
Ranu’s beads of  sweat appear much larger. It seemed like the dewdrops 
on the tip of  her nose and on the curve above her lips glistened and 
trembled like raindrops. Osman feels thirsty; he’s dying to put his mouth 
on the tip of  Ranu’s nose and on the curve above her lips to sip each and 
every drop of  water off  of  there. With one kiss he probably won’t have 
to drink water the entire rest of  the day. Forgetting to take a drag on his 
cigarette Osman bit his own bottom lip. Ronju says, “Choto apa15, you 
stay. I’ll go and get your books.”

“Looking for one book, you’ll go and make a mess of  all my books 
and things. I’ll go.”

Osman says, “Ranu, why didn’t you bring your book and notebooks?”
Osman’s tongue quivered trying to say the word ‘Ranu’, just saying 

the word his thirst for a drip of  her sweat increased a hundred fold. From 
pronouncing the name that thirst spread like wildfire from his lips and 
tongue across his entire body. Osman then pulled the table in front of  
the bed and sat down in the one chair in the room on this side of  the 
table. Ronju and Ranu are now face-to-face with him. He had absolutely 
no desire to extinguish his thirst, he tried as much as possible to soak 
up Ranu’s beads of  sweat with just his eyes. The intensity of  his thirst 
gradually increased, he drew strength from that, Osman commanded, 
“Ranu, Why are you going downstairs now? Ronju, you go, bring her math 
book and notebook.”

Ranu says, “Look, don’t mess around with my books now!”
Without answering, Ronju goes bounding downstairs.
Directly across from Osman Ranu sits all alone. Should Osman start 

talking about math right away? Or should he first tell her about his thirst 
to soak up those drops of  sweat from below and on the tip of  Ranu’s 
nose? How should he start? It’s about that that he finds himself  in a bit 
of  a pickle. Ranu says, “You came back so late, no?”

“Yeah. How did you know?”
“I woke from the sound of  you going up the stairs!”
All these words which escaped, parting Ranu’s second bracket-marked 

lips were fuel for the fire of  Osman’s thirst to drink up the liquor of  those 
beads beneath and on the tip of  her nose. 

“You come back so late, you don’t get scared?”
“Scared of  what?” Osman says the words, okay, but the intensity 

of  his thirst for her sweat ruined the smooth flow of  the words; the 
sentence came out shaky. But Ranu says with ease, “These days there’s 
so much going on in the streets. Do you really know when something’s 
going to happen?”

15	 Term of address for the youngest among his elder sisters.



It’s not from concern or fear or emotion, perhaps from a cold, Ranu’s 
voice is a bit heavy. All of  Osman’s fingers trembled just a little from 
that heavy tone of  voice. He balled his own hand into a fist, then again 
released it. His fingers got some exercise from that, but the trembling did 
not stop. Spreading from his fingers the goddamned trembling finally 
sat itself  down right on his head, if  you can believe that! He needs a 
remedy for that right quick. You know what he does? He reaches out 
his index and middle finger on his right hand to touch the tip of  Ranu’s 
nose and slowly wipes off  the beads of  sweat; then, as though he were 
using blotting paper, he softly pressed his index finger against that small 
crease below Ranu’s nose. Ronju’s crease is exactly like this too. Certainly 
Osman too must have a crease like this below his nose. Once a mustache 
like his sprouts up on him, Osman’s bit of  crease will be hidden; Ranu’s 
however, just like this fixed wave, will continue to sprout one or two 
beads of  sweat each and every morning and afternoon for her entire life.

Withdrawing his hand, Osman says, “You were scared last night and 
you’re still sweating now in the afternoon the next day?”

For just the blink of  an eye Ranu opened her eyes as wide as she 
could and looked at Osman, then she lowered her head and sat hunched 
down in her seat. Seated like this she took her slender, dark fingers and 
wiped them over her nose, and below her nose, even over her lips and 
down to her chin. Was it Osman’s touch that tickled her? 

Osman suddenly starts talking. Very serious-type talk. For example, it 
is essential that Ranu grasp the unitary method well. For example, if  one 
can grasp the unitary method once then all of  these math problems are 
easy as pie. For example, nobody gets a good result on the exam if  they 
cannot do math well. For example, she gets a solid number in math, and 
by number I mean a good number. In math you don’t need a lot, if  she 
can get those numbers up to seventy, seventy-five Ranu could even get 
first division. Getting first division is not that hard.

Ronju arrives with Ranu’s book and notebook, and says, “Choto-apa, 
you study, I need to go out.”

“Out? What the heck are you talkin’ about? It’s nearly afternoon and 
you’re going to play?” These are Ranu’s first words since her beads of  
sweat were wiped clean. Did someone soak up even that moist sound 
in Ranu’s voice? If  Ranu suddenly says in that dried out voice, “Ronju, 
you’re goin’. I’m supposed to stay here alone or what?” Or, if  Ranu 
embraces her mother still afflicted by the death of  her son and says, 
weeping, “Amma, Who are you all sending me to study with? He wants 
to touch my body!” Or she locks eyes with Osman and says, through 
clenched teeth, “All you know is book learning, huh? Your folks never 
taught you manners? You’re not supposed to put your hands on a girl 
from an educated family. Make sure you remember that!” What if  that 
happens? Because he could not figure out what his reaction should be 
if  something like that were to happen, Osman Goni manufactured a 
reckless expression on this face and in his eyes and sat listening to their 
conversation with his chest puffed out.



Ronju says, “Not at all! Am I going to go and play at this hour? 
Amma told me to go to the store, she said to get ginger and cooking oil.”

Ronju leaves. Osman was already prepared for the possibility that 
Ranu too would leave. To save him from having to witness that scene it 
would be awfully nice to light up a cigarette. But he can’t find his pack 
of  Kingstorks. The profit turned out to be in the looking.16 If  Ranu’s 
fury vanishes while he looks for his pack of  Kingstorks then he’s saved.

When Osman finally lit the cigarette, took a long drag and looked 
in Ranu’s direction, Ranu by that point was fully absorbed in turning the 
pages of  her mathematics textbook. Looking away slightly, Osman says, 
“Let’s see.”

Within just a couple of  minutes Osman became fully immersed in 
the unitary method. He tried explaining to Ranu in so many different 
ways you wouldn’t believe it. After talking about the method for a long 
time he does one problem after another showing her how to solve them. 
Osman doesn’t stop even long enough to blink. Even as he finishes 
writing the solution to one problem he turns to another, and he doesn’t 
even stop long enough to see whether Ranu is understanding them or 
not. It’s Ranu who eventually says, “Give it here. I get it already, give it!”

To go along with this overly smart manner of  comment by Ranu, a 
tiny, hinting turn of  a smile suited itself  perfectly to the corner of  her 
lips. Keeping that hint unwavering, Ranu says, “You don’t need to go on 
about all that to me so much. Give it here!”

“Yes, yes. Of  course that’s true.” Osman says it as if  it had been a 
crime for him to go on explaining the math problems for so long.

While Ranu solves her math problems she raises her eyebrows 
slightly and looks in Osman’s direction. Osman of  course is looking at 
her out of  the corner of  his eyes, but 100% of  his attention is focused 
on Ranu’s math problems. Ranu is making mistakes on one after another 
math problem. Even after so many mistakes Osman does not get 
annoyed or hopeless. His regret is only this: that his index and middle 
finger on his right hand were drying off. He had maneuvered these two 
fingers to keep them separate from the others. But had all of  those 
dewdrops completely disappeared from those two fingers as a result of  
picking up the pen to do those math problems? He saw once out of  the 
corner of  his eye that there was now no trace of  the beads of  sweat on 
the tip of  Ranu’s nose or along the small crease below it. Then again, 
Ranu’s mistakes on her math continued apace. Because of  that Ronju’s 
idiocy--Why did he have to go downstairs?--the tip of  the girl’s nose was 
parched as a desert. Now what’s left on that dusky-faced complexion of  
hers? A short while ago Osman had been scared, scared about Ranu’s 
hostile reaction. That was actually better, now this weary and dullish sort 
of  feeling overcame his entire body. Within moments he had forgotten 
the cause or source of  this feeling; as a result, a hopelessness without 

16	 I’m not sure about my translation of this line.  I understand that it refers to his 
looking for this cigarettes as an avoidance tactic while he hopes what he imagines 
Ranu’s anger to be dissipates. 



reason pressed heavily upon him with even greater force. From his chest 
upwards to the tip of  his head and down all the way to the right side of  
his stomach the tendrils spread.17 That biting pain in his stomach awoke 
again. The pain increased slowly and upon reaching a certain point it did 
not increase more, it stopped right there. But there was some benefit 
from that to be sure! That fear or dull sadness from a short while ago-
-all of  that merged into a single body in this pain and he no longer had 
to perceive them as separate. This pain was difficult too to explain to 
doctors. It didn’t have a specific location. There it is as a twinge in the 
middle of  his chest; before he even has a chance to explain that very well, 
it moves down below to some holes or hollows situated in the middle 
space between his chest and his stomach. Then just as he’s explaining 
thoroughly about that place it radiates downwards further below to some 
hidden corner of  his stomach. Taking a seat there, the goddamned pain 
dozes for a bit; if  Osman concentrates a little on the wall of  his abdomen 
he can sense it snoozing there. Head down solving her math problems 
he can sometimes see Ranu’s chin separately. At one point it seemed like 
it must be Ronju immersed in doing his translations. Shortly after, he’ll 
see just to the left and slightly below that chin the pagoda embroidered 
in dark brown thread on the shirt pocket. At the same time the pain 
in his abdomen moves down further, a jittery quiver that overtakes his 
blood flow and lodges itself  in his crotch; Osman looks straight ahead 
trying to see Ronju clearly. Where is Ronju? Ronju just now went to the 
store.  When he went in the name of  buying ginger, garlic and cooking 
oil, is he really going to come back without making a few rounds down 
in the streets?

Ranu raises her head and says, “Take a look, I’ve done a bunch. 
Should I do more?”

“Go ahead.”
Osman’s stomach pain returned to its correct position. He needs 

to find out about this pain from Kamal in the office. He’s also very 
interested in sicknesses of  the heart. Before, cancer used to be Kamal’s 
favorite. But a couple years back after his father died from cancer Kamal 
gave up on his cancer practice. These days his favorite subjects are 
girlfriends and duodenal ulcers. He himself  is asthmatic, but he never 
says anything about asthma. Then again, he’s so excited about duodenal 
ulcers that Kamal is ultra obsessive about the pronunciation of  the word 
even, never would he say diudenal or duidenal. What about irregular pain 
in Osman’s stomach? Acidity? In the final analysis is that the affliction 
he would identify it as? The name’s a mouthful18, but after hearing 
Kamal describe this sickness so much Osman developed a bad taste in 
his mouth about it. When the small intestine apparently swells up and 
springs a leak then the pain becomes so severe that the patient cannot 
experience anything else in their body other than the pain. Alright, did 

17	 I am not sure if there is an idiomatic meaning of Dalpala I’m missing here.
18	 or is it that “the name’s highfalutin”?



Deepchand suffer from this kind of  illness? Suddenly the image of  
walking through the cramped alleyway in Panitola seen last night in his 
dream thumped in Osman’s chest; he hadn’t been able to recognize that 
person accompanying him in the dream, but just now he recognized 
him. Oh man, that was Deepchand! So long after he had died where was 
Deepchand Muchi off  to dragging Osman along in the dream?

Deepchand died, Is that today’s news? As he became wrung out by 
his intestinal pain Deepchand first gave up the place where he used to sit 
next to the station, he stopped working completely, a few days later when 
it was time for the mail train to pass by he went to the trouble himself  
of  lying down on the rail line. The Bordhoman Mail crosses Begunbari 
station at 3 in the morning, in the morning when Osman’s father got the 
news he took Osman by the hand and set off  towards the rail line. Seeing 
the father taking his son along with him, Osman’s mom called out from 
behind, “He’s takin’ Ronju along again, look!”

“Why not? Let him go!”
“The night’s barely passed and he’s takin’ the youngin’ to see the 

Muchi’s dead body?”
“So he’s a Muchi, what of  it? When there was trouble, who was it 

that sent word about all them on the other side of  the line stewing the 
pot gettin’ ready for it? If  we hadn’t gotten wind of  it from Deepchand 
Muchi’s own mouth, would we have been able to take precautions?”

“Oh, oh! What did he not do? But you wanna take your boy, who 
wakes up quaking like a leaf  at night in fear, at seven in the morning to 
the rail line to see a dead body split in two?”

“A man needn’t be afraid of  all that!”
To Ibrahim Sheikh all boy children were already men. Men who 

were afraid, or lowered their heads in embarrassment, or kept their hair 
long--he couldn’t stand any of  this. That’s why he was known by all 
for his pluck. On the other side of  the line the Boses of  Begunbari 
village had a lot of  clout, even though those Boses poked and probed 
those villages of  Tajhat and Babra a few times, they never had the gall 
to attack Gowalghurni. Even though they tried to win over a few Muchi 
households in Gowalghurni and some of  the fishermen nearby, the Babus 
weren’t really able to accomplish much. What, you think the Sheikhs 
clout was anything less? Even after Partition, for two years when August 
14th would come around, Ibrahim Sheikh’s hand would itch to raise the 
Pakistani flag. At first you wouldn’t believe the excitement of  the village 
lads! “Ibrahim-bhai, go’on an’ raise the flag, if  them Begunbari malaun19 
come to do sumpin’, then them school boys won’t be returnin’ home 
cross the line, they won’t.” 

Later that excitement was no longer there. Ibrahim Sheikh moved 
with his family to Dhaka to help establish the Khondokar’s business, 
after about three years or so he no longer had any interest in Pakistan or 
flying the Pakistani flag, he returned again to the village. Then it started, 

19	 An insulting term for Hindus.



day and night, cursing out Nazimuddin/Nurul Amin20 as hypocritical 
and faithless. 

So Ibrahim grabbed Osman’s hand and started walking. Outside, 
beyond the courtyard there was an expansive pond with brick lined 
ghats at either end. The ghat’s bricks at that time were falling out like 
the eldest Miah’s teeth were. If  you continue 200/250 yards along the 
path next to the pond there was the expanse under the old banyan tree. 
That expanse under the banyan was Osman’s playground. If  you took 
a turn from here there was a narrow little trail, a short distance down 
that trail Itkhola marsh began. Deepchand’s mud house was on the edge 
of  the marsh. Around the house or next to the marsh, Deepchand’s 
drove of  pigs would roam around digging with their snouts in the dirt. 
Deepchand’s wife used to sit on the verandah of  the Muniya house and 
weave bamboo baskets, and in an indecipherable language scold her 
husband or the gods or her own fate. Sometimes they would wash the 
dishes or bathe in the marsh water. During the rainy season the Itkhola 
marsh would puff  out its chest in an effort to merge the lotuses with the 
sky and in doing so would come right up high! Then, if  their mood was 
good, the Muniyas would call Osman over from the base of  the banyan 
to give him lotus seeds to eat. That day Deepchand’s pigs were happily 
digging in the mud when the Muniya’s constant flow of  weeping came 
from inside the house.

Hearing Ibrahim calling, Sukhonlal came out. Osman knows this 
guy too; after Deepchand had moved from the station he used to sit over 
there and hand stitch shoes. Since Deepchand fell sick, various choice 
words were heard about Sukhonlal and Muniya. Seeing Sukhonlal it was 
like he was transported back into those growing boy’s bones21--What if  
Deepchand’s train-severed-head came rolling out right along with him! 
But no, Sukhonlal informs that the corpse is still next to the rail line; 
the constable’s order: so long as the police haven’t arrived it can’t be 
removed. News was delivered to his relatives and caste members, they 
came and sat watch around the body. One of  Deepchand’s nephews, 
Bulbuliya, after drinking about a pint of  moonshine raised a hand to 
Sukhonlal for no reason, and the things he said, if  Sukhonlal uttered 
them even in front of  one of  the Miahs it would have been a sin. It’s in 
the Miahs’ village, on the Miahs’ own land that Bulbuliya lives; Sukhonlal 
too has spent his life on Miah land. Won’t Ibrahim Sheikh make some 
kind of  ruling on that?

Over on this side, inside Deepchand’s house, Muniya started up her 
weeping again after taking a break for a few minutes. Ibrahim Sheikh says 
to Osman, “Ronju, you go on home.” When Osman keeps on walking 
with him Ibrahim scolds him, “What did I say? Go on home!”

20	 Khwaja Nazimuddin was a Muslim League politician who was Pakistan’s Gover-
nor General and later Prime Minister; Nurul Amin was another prominent Muslim 
League politician, Home Minister after Pakistan’s independence and Prime Minis-
ter of Pakistan during the Liberation War of Bangladesh.

21	 Not sure about this translation.



“No, I’m going with you.” Osman is adamant, “You have to show 
me the dead person!”

“He’s going on again!” Ibrahim tries to tempt him after scolding 
him, “Go on. I’m gonna bring back sondesh from the station market, 
alright? Go on now!”

“No, I don’t want to eat sondesh. I want to see the man cut in half  by 
the train! I’ve never seen before, today I want to see it, ‘right?” Ibrahim 
Sheikh, however, did not get angry; instead, even more gently he said, 
“Go on now, baba! Tomorrow I’ll bring you a parakeet from Tajhat. 
How’s that? Now, go on!”

In order to snap him out of  his fascination at seeing Deepchand who 
had committed suicide by train, Ibrahim Sheikh in the end promised to 
fulfill Osman’s long coveted wish. In hopes of  getting a real, live bird 
Osman had to abandon his obsession with seeing the train-severed 
cadaver. Look at that, today, after such a long time, Deepchand himself  
had appeared in his dream. How had he looked that day? Lungi turned 
up halfway and tucked into the knot22, a twill short-sleeved shirt, a lit 
unfiltered cigarette in his hand. Ibrahim Sheikh heads off  in the direction 
of  the rail line taking long strides; spindle-thin Sukhonlal follows behind, 
complaining, spitting now and then, then again complaining. After they 
had covered some distance, they disappeared into the bushes of  the 
babla tree on Habu Mollick’s highland and couldn’t be seen anymore. 
While over here, Osman stands by the edge of  the marsh listening with 
every pore of  his body to the continuous sound of  the world’s weeping. 
Because it’s in that place that Muniya washes the dishes and bathes, there 
are no lotus flowers there. Osman’s shadow falls on the water. His lips, 
like a second bracket, change places over and over in the water’s thin 
ripples; the embroidered pagoda on the shirt breast pocket splays weirdly 
in the droning of  the water’s muffled mantra. A blackish-yellow colored 
aroma comes in from the aush paddy field behind Deepchand’s house 
and as it mixes with the weeping from Deepchand’s wife it demolishes 
the structure of  the sound, smell and color. In the water of  the marsh 
Mr. Ronju then was lying facing Osman, quivering slightly from fear and 
a bit from desire. Osman looked with longing at this Ronju in the water; 
he didn’t notice that Ronju had stood up from the water in front of  him.

Suddenly hearing Ronju speak, he sat up and looked around.
“You’re getting sleepy. Go to bed, I’m going.” No, not Ronju, it’s 

Ranu who’s talking. Osman is embarrassed, “Suddenly got tired, I don’t 
understand why.”

“Why wouldn’t you sleep at night! You come back so late at night 
anyway. Why don’t you sleep better?” With the passing of  this terribly 
brief  period of  drowsiness, the inside of  Osman’s eyes are burning, 
starting with his eyebrows all the way to the entirety of  his forehead it 

22	Is this the ‘active’ style when a lungi is folded halfway up and tucked into the top 
to free the legs?



was like half  of  his head was splitting from the pain. From beneath the 
mattress he took 2 tablets of  Novalgin and popped them in his mouth 
with a drink of  water.

The faint scent of  Ranu’s loose hair hung in the emptiness of  the 
other side of  the table. Osman now has straightened in his chair, the 2 
tablets of  Novalgin are working, he’s gradually getting relief  from his 
headache. Osman says, “Where’s it? Let me see your notebook!”

“Let it be for today! It seems like you’re not feeling well. You should 
have some medicine!”

“No. My head was aching a bit, it’ll be gone in five minutes.”
Nope! The unitary method has not made its way into Ranu’s head 

in the least. Even if  she studies for a year, piercing her skull would be 
impossible. Instead, he could have gone with Anwar to their village. 
Village by village, people are coming together, getting organized, shaking 
off  the sloth, standing up for themselves. He’s given up the chance to see 
all that just so he can teach some math problems to this blunt girl? The 
pain in Osman’s stomach starts to pinch at him sharply, steadily. Damn! 
He should’ve eaten, now acidity, didn’t sleep last night, on top of  that he 
should’ve never taken the analgesic tablet. As he fixes Ranu’s mistakes 
on the math problems a tart and bitter flow rises and falls like the tide 
all through his stomach and chest. If  he could just lie down for a bit it 
would be good. Osman had to say, “Let it be for today. Come tomorrow. 
How’s that?”



Ranu asks, “You’re feeling really terrible, huh?” He smiled as he 
fought back a surge of  that tart and bitter flow near his throat, “No, all 
of  a sudden I’m feeling really drowsy. Daytime naps right at the start of  
nineteen sixty nine, I think I might spend the year sleeping.”

But Ranu stood up without smiling at all. Osman stood up, his body 
close to hers. A lot of  fresh beads of  sweat had collected at the tip of  
Ranu’s dusky-hued nose; on that small, unblemished wave above her lips, 
below her nose large drops of  sweat trembled. If  Osman wanted to he 
could lean in slightly and with a kiss on the tip of  Ranu’s nose and below 
that he could soak up all of  those beads of  moisture. Instead, he sucked 
on his own index finger. When Ranu stares at him a bit taken aback, 
Osman says, his mouth moistened with saliva, “Come tomorrow, alright? 
Come at this time, yeah?”

As soon as Ranu picked up her books and went downstairs Osman 
closed the door. His right index finger was still in his mouth. Getting 
no salty flavor at all, he sucked on it even harder. Sucking on that tart-
bitter flavored finger Osman went out onto the roof  through the other 
door. With his back pressed against the roof  railing, as he began to bend 
forward slightly, the vomit came; he heaved and wretched. 
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